### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

FILED

10/04/2023

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

### No. DA 22-0083

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

WES LEE WHITAKER,

Defendant and Appellant.

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

On Appeal from the Montana Fourth Judicial District Court, Missoula County, the Honorable John W. Larson, Presiding

#### **APPEARANCES:**

CHAD WRIGHT
Appellate Defender
MICHAEL MARCHESINI
Assistant Appellate Defender
Office of State Public Defender
Appellate Defender Division
P.O. Box 200147
Helena, MT 59620-0147
Michael.Marchesini@mt.gov
(406) 444-9505

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Wes had a constitutional right to confront the State's witnesses face to face. The District Court let Jamie Grubb testify by video that Wes confessed to him, without making any case-specific findings on why video testimony was necessary. Did the court violate Wes's confrontation right?
- 2. The District Court let the State bolster L.M.'s trial testimony by repeatedly admitting her consistent, out-of-court hearsay statements about the alleged abuse. Did the court abuse its discretion?
- 3. Did Wes's convictions of both sexual intercourse without consent (SIWC) and its lesser-included offense of sexual assault violate double jeopardy?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 7, 2018, Wes Whitaker's wife, Jessica, told police her three-year-old daughter L.M. (Wes's stepdaughter) told her Wes had sexually abused her. (Tr. at 1187–90.) L.M. repeated this allegation to a sexual assault nurse examiner (S.A.N.E.) and in a video-recorded forensic interview. (Tr. at 1027–29; State's Ex. 2.)

The State charged Wes with SIWC. (Doc. 3.) Later, the State added counts of incest and sexual assault. (Docs. 80, 220.) The information alleged all three offenses occurred on or about July 1, 2018. (Doc. 220 at 2.) After initially being appointed counsel, Wes represented himself before and during trial.

On February 6, 2020, the State moved to have Jamie Grubb—a federal prisoner in Illinois—testify by video because transporting him to Montana would be "impractical." (Doc. 75.) Wes objected on confrontation grounds. (Doc. 84.)

After the COVID-19 pandemic subsequently struck, the District Court issued a blanket ruling in May 2020 that "all witnesses," including Grubb, could testify by video. (Tr. at 9, 40; Doc. 125.) The court briefly reiterated at a January 2021 hearing that Grubb could testify by video, but it implied its ruling would be the same regardless of the pandemic. (Tr. at 397–98.) Grubb took the virtual witness stand five months later, at the June 2021 trial, after this Court and the District Court had eased courtroom COVID-19 restrictions. (Tr. at 1111.) Grubb testified Wes had confessed to him in detail about his sexual abuse of L.M. (Tr. at 1115–24.)

L.M. testified and made the same accusations she had made to the S.A.N.E. nurse and forensic interviewer. (Tr. at 784–94.) Over Wes's hearsay objections, the S.A.N.E. nurse read aloud L.M.'s prior statements to her verbatim, and the State played L.M.'s forensic interview video for the jury. (Tr. at 1023–30, 1098–1104, 1131–36.)

The jury found Wes guilty on all three counts. (Doc. 338.) The prosecutor recommended the sentences for each count run concurrently, because all three charges were "based on the same act." (Tr. at 1656.)

The District Court agreed and sentenced Wes to 100 years without parole on each count, to run concurrently. (Doc. 371, Judgment, Attached as Appendix A.) Wes filed a timely notice of appeal. (Docs. 378, 384.)

# STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

## Jessica's and L.M.'s Allegations

Jessica and Wes began dating in 2016. (Tr. at 805.) Jessica had a child from a previous relationship, L.M., who was just three years old at the time of the allegations. (*See* Tr. at 803.) In 2017, Jessica and Wes got married and had their own child together, A.W. (Tr. at 803–08.) The

family moved from Billings to Missoula in the spring of 2018. (Tr. at 816.)

By early summer 2018, Jessica and Wes were on the verge of divorce. They fought and argued often. (Tr. at 811–16.) On multiple occasions after fighting, Jessica would take the kids and stay with a friend or her mother for a few nights. (Tr. at 812, 824.) Wes told Jessica he wanted a divorce. (Tr. at 903.) He also threatened to seek full custody of the children, which made Jessica angry. (Tr. at 894–900.)

Then, on July 7, 2018, Jessica claimed Wes had sexually abused L.M. She alleged she was giving L.M. a bath when L.M. spontaneously said Wes had touched her "diamond." (Tr. at 845.) When Jessica asked L.M. what her "diamond" was, Jessica claims L.M. "pointed down to her private parts and said her pee-pee." (Tr. at 845.)

Jessica called her friend Brittany and cryptically asked to stay with her that night. (Tr. at 846.) Brittany called the police. (Tr. at 847.) Officer Ken Smith responded to Jessica's house as she was loading her children and belongings into the car while Wes slept. (Tr. at 847–48, 1188–90.) Jessica told Officer Smith that L.M. had said Wes touched her vagina. (Tr. at 1190.) L.M. told Officer Smith the same. (Tr. at

1194.) Jessica also told Officer Smith L.M. "had previously been abused" but did not elaborate. (Tr. at 1199.)

Wes was arrested in his bedroom, and Officer Smith escorted

Jessica and L.M. to First STEP Clinic, a child advocacy center. (Tr. at
850–51, 1197.) Adeline Wakeman, a S.A.N.E. nurse, examined L.M. at
about 1:30 a.m. (Tr. at 1002.)

Wakeman's examination did not turn up anything "medically significant." (Tr. at 1016.) A vaginal swab tested negative for the presence of semen, saliva, or male DNA. (Tr. at 1031, 1283–85.) L.M.'s hymen was not compromised or damaged in any way. (Tr. at 1035.)

The next day, L.M. met with Cat Otway at First STEP for a forensic interview. (Tr. at 855, 1094.) Otway read Wakeman's report prior to the interview. (Tr. at 1096.) Otway then questioned L.M. for 25 minutes and recorded the conversation on video. (Tr. at 1097–98; Ex. 2.)

Between the night of Wes's arrest and July 10, Wes placed three calls to Jessica from jail. In them, he neither admitted nor denied the allegations, instead expressing hopelessness and resignation that the

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 1}$  Recordings of these calls were admitted and published at trial. (Tr. at 851–52, 854, 860; State's Exs. 1A, 1B, 1C.)

accusations were going to lead to him spending years in prison. (Exs. 1A, 1B, 1C.) In the third and final call, Wes told Jessica—after she had repeatedly accused, yelled at, and berated him—that he felt like a "failure," he had made mistakes in his life, he did not treat the kids "fairly," and he did not want the kids "to know that this is what their dad is." (Ex. 1C at 00:14:40–00:15:40.)

Jessica claimed at trial that on one occasion at their home in Missoula, she had fallen asleep in the living room with L.M., but when she woke up, L.M. was in the parents' bedroom. (Tr. at 826.) This was not unusual, as L.M. commonly slept in bed with Wes and/or Jessica. (Tr. at 819, 843.) Jessica claimed she saw L.M. exit the bedroom "zipping up her onesie pajamas," which made Jessica suspicious. (Tr. at 826.) Jessica had "no idea" when this happened. (Tr. at 826.)

Jessica also testified that on one occasion at the beginning of July 2018, she fell asleep in the living room, woke up, and walked into the bedroom to see Wes lying on the bed in his boxers and L.M. standing on the floor in front of him with no shirt on. (Tr. at 827–30.) Jessica said "it looked like he was pulling up L.M.'s pants." (Tr. at 828.) She said Wes "jumped up" in a panic and ran into the bathroom, while Jessica said,

"what the fuck is going on here?" (Tr. at 828.) Jessica claimed she noticed Wes had a partial erection. (Tr. at 831.)

Jessica testified that after this event, she told Wes she did not trust him around L.M. (Tr. at 844.) Yet Jessica also took the whole family on a vacation to Whitefish right after this happened. (Tr. at 844.)

Detective Crystal Crocker interviewed Wes at the jail. (Tr. at 1214.) Wes said his and Jessica's marriage had been deteriorating, and they fought a lot. (Tr. at 1216.) Crocker asked Wes about the incident where Jessica walked in on him and L.M. in the bedroom. (Tr. at 1217.) According to Crocker's recollection, Wes told her he went to bed that night drunk, with his clothes on, and the bedroom door locked. (Tr. at 1217–18.) When he woke up, the door was open, he was undressed, and L.M. was in his bed with no clothes on. (Tr. at 1218.) Wes said he told L.M. to put clothes on and was helping her get dressed when Jessica walked into the room. (Tr. at 1218.)

Wes denied to Crocker that he had sexually abused L.M. (Tr. at 1221.) When Crocker told him she did not believe him and pressed him to give a different answer, Wes told her he did not "remember" ever

sexually abusing L.M. (Tr. at 1222.) Wes told Crocker he believed "Jessica had planted these ideas in L.M.'s mind." (Tr. at 1215.)

L.M. testified at trial. By that time, she was six years old. (Tr. at 781.) She stated when she was three, Wes touched her "private parts," which she described as where she goes both poop and pee. (Tr. at 785.) She testified Wes called her "front part" her "diamond." (Tr. at 789.) L.M. said Wes would touch her using both his hands and his penis. (Tr. at 789.) When asked if he touched the inside or outside of her private parts, L.M. answered, "Both, I think." (Tr. at 790.) L.M. said this happened more than once but could not say how many times or when it happened. (Tr. at 790.) L.M. said Wes told her that if she told anyone, he would call the police and have her mother taken away. (Tr. at 794.) Wes personally cross-examined L.M., and L.M. did not recognize him. (Tr. at 801.)

Dr. Donna Zook, a clinical psychologist and expert witness for the defense, explained it was common for children as young as L.M. to fuse disparate memories together and believe the newly formed, fabricated memories were real. (Tr. at 1512.) She testified toddlers often cannot

accurately identify the source experience on which a particular memory is based. (Tr. at 1513.)

Mark Moser, Jessica's uncle, met with Wes numerous times after his arrest and had lengthy, heartfelt conversations with him at the jail. (Tr. at 1324–26, 1335.) Moser told Wes he believed Jessica may have wanted to "escape the situation with" him and coached L.M. to make the allegations in order to get him out of her life. (Tr. at 1329.)

## Jamie Grubb's Video Testimony

At a May 27, 2020 hearing, the State noted "many" of its witnesses would appear in person—including Jessica and L.M., who lived over 400 miles away in Glasgow, Montana (Tr. at 782, 802)—but that Grubb "will have to appear via video." (Tr. at 40.) Wes objected. (Tr. at 40.) Referring to its blanket ruling a week earlier that "all witnesses" could testify remotely, the District Court responded, "[B]ased on my prior statements about allowing video testimony under the COVID-19 conditions, [] I will grant your request." (Tr. at 40.)

The prosecutor asked the court to put this order in writing, because the federal prison required a written order to make Grubb available by video. (Tr. at 45.) The District Court responded, "Well, I

believe it's a writ." (Tr. at 45.) The prosecutor clarified, "That is generally what they ask for" when there is a request to transport an inmate out of custody. (Tr. at 45.) But the prosecutor said the prison assured him a standard court order was "sufficient for their ability to allow him to appear by video. I'm not asking to take him out of custody, just having him appear." (Tr. at 46.)

The court complied with the prosecutor's request and issued a written order allowing Grubb to testify by video. The order contained no explanation. (Doc. 125.)

After a few continuances of the trial date, the State referenced the court's prior order on Grubb at a January 26, 2021 hearing. (Tr. at 397.) The court chimed in and said, "Right. And that's an obvious situation where that – the only way we can get testimony from that witness – and it's happened even before COVID-19 where I've had trials with a federally protected witness or federally incarcerated witness testifies remotely [sic]." (Tr. at 397–98.) Wes again objected, and the court overruled. (Tr. at 398.) The court did not mention Grubb again until he took the virtual witness stand five months later on June 22, 2021.

Shortly before trial, on June 9, 2021, the court observed how much the pandemic had receded, saying, "more and more people are vaccinated," "[t]he county is beginning to relax on social distancing," and "there seems to be a lot more travel going on" and much more "close association occurring." (Tr. at 481–82.) The court said of the many Montana-based witnesses, "I expect that most of these witnesses will be available to testify in the courtroom." (Tr. at 482.) When trial convened shortly thereafter, the District Court announced it would not require masks in the courtroom. (Tr. at 569.)

The State called Grubb to testify by video on the second day of trial. (Tr. at 1106.) Wes objected yet again that this violated his right to confront adverse witnesses. (Tr. at 1106–07.) The court responded tersely, "I understand. It's overruled." (Tr. at 1107.)

On roughly ten occasions during Grubb's video testimony, Grubb indicated he could not hear the prosecutor's or Wes's questions. Grubb responded to various questions by saying: "I'm sorry. Can you say that again?" (Tr. at 1112.) "I'm sorry?" (Tr. at 1112.) "Sorry. You're really quiet." (Tr. at 1112.) "I did not hear what you said." (Tr. at 1115.) "I'm sorry. You cut out there for a second. Could you repeat that?" (Tr. at

1117.) "I'm sorry?" (Tr. at 1117.) "I'm sorry. Can you repeat that?" (Tr. at 1124.) "Sorry. Can you repeat that?" (Tr. at 1125.) "Say that again." (Tr. at 1128.) "I'm sorry. You cut out halfway through that." (Tr. at 1129.)

In the midst of these constant technological disruptions, Grubb testified he and Wes shared a cell when they were both inmates at the Missoula County Detention Facility. (Tr. at 1115.) Grubb told the jury Wes confided in him about a time he got into bed with L.M. and "ended up sexually rubbing myself up against her. And then my wife came home, and almost caught us." (Tr. at 1119.) Grubb said Wes told him that on another occasion while lying in bed with L.M., "I would rub my dick against her vaginal area and her anus." (Tr. at 1120.)

Grubb then testified a "major thing that struck me" was that Wes said he told L.M. to refer to her vagina as her "diamond." (Tr. at 1120.) Grubb said Wes told him he had L.M. use this "diamond" codeword to reduce the chance someone else would find out about his abuse. (Tr. at 1124.)

Wes asked Grubb on cross-examination if it was true Grubb had spread "false rumors" about Wes prior to them becoming cellmates and

that they "didn't get along very well" as a result. (Tr. at 1129.) Grubb answered, "I'm sorry. You cut out halfway through that." (Tr. at 1129.) Wes had to repeat the question, and then Grubb answered no. (Tr. at 1129.) Wes also asked Grubb if he had rifled through his case "paperwork" while they shared a cell, implying this was how he came to know details about the alleged abuse, but Grubb denied doing so. (Tr. at 1130.)

After Grubb's testimony, Detective Crocker testified Grubb reached out to her in April 2019 and told her, among other things, about Wes's use of the term "diamond." (Tr. at 1230–31.) Crocker testified this information was "investigatively significant" because "that information wasn't public." (Tr. at 1231–32.) She said the only way Grubb could have known about that term is if Wes discussed it with him. (Tr. at 1232.)

The prosecutor previewed Grubb's testimony in opening statements. (Tr. at 763.) Then, in closing arguments, the prosecutor repeatedly discussed Grubb's testimony, including a reference to it just four sentences in. (Tr. at 1607.) The prosecutor went on to say Jessica's testimony about walking in on Wes pulling up L.M.'s pants in the

bedroom "is corroborated by Jamie Grubb, the Defendant's cellmate who says that the Defendant told him that his wife caught him this time." (Tr. at 1618.)

The prosecutor said "of particular note" in Grubb's testimony were Grubb's statements about the "diamond" codeword. (Tr. at 1619.) The prosecutor said, "And that's notable because Detective Crocker told you that that word, 'diamond,' was in no public document in this case. It was not available to the public . . . And so how did Mr. Grubb know the word 'diamond'? The only way he could have known is because the Defendant told him." (Tr. at 1620.) The prosecutor said Grubb's testimony was proof Wes had made an "outright confession." (Tr. at 1619.)

# Use of Hearsay to Bolster L.M.'s Testimony

During six-year-old L.M.'s direct examination, the prosecutor asked if she remembered talking to a "nurse," talking to someone with "glasses," or "being in a room that had a videotape running" three years earlier, apparently referring to Wakeman and Otway. (Tr. at 792–93.)

L.M. said she did not remember those things. (Tr. at 792–93.)

Based on L.M.'s inability to recall which strangers she talked to when she was three years old, the prosecutor sought to admit L.M.'s entire statements to Wakeman and Otway as "prior inconsistent statements." (Tr. at 1024–26, 1082–83.) The prosecutor argued L.M.'s "lack of memory" about these conversations created the "inconsistency" between her prior statements and present testimony. (Tr. at 1024-26, 1082–83.) The District Court initially disagreed, saying L.M.'s lack of memory about talking to Otway and Wakeman opened the door only to evidence she in fact talked to them, not to the content of her statements to them. (Tr. at 1025.) But the prosecutor was persistent and eventually persuaded the court to admit these statements in their entirety. (Tr. at 1026.) Wes objected and later moved for a mistrial on hearsay grounds, but to no avail. (Tr. at 1024–26, 1082–84, 1486–87.)

Wakeman testified she was a nurse practitioner with two bachelor's degrees, a master's degree, and a doctorate. (Tr. at 998–99.) She had received specialized training to be a S.A.N.E. nurse. (Tr. at 999.) And she had performed between 150 and 200 S.A.N.E. exams in her career. (Tr. at 1001.)

Wakeman had with her on the witness stand a copy of her examination report, which in turn contained her notes on L.M.'s statements. (Tr. at 1005.) Wakeman read those notes to the jury verbatim. (Tr. at 1027–30.)

Wakeman quoted L.M. as saying to her, "Are you going to look here (points to vagina) and take my underwear off?" (Tr. at 1027.)

Wakeman said she asked L.M., "What do you call that place?" and L.M. answered, "My diamond." (Tr. at 1028.) Wakeman testified L.M. then said, "Daddy told me not to talk to mom and not to go to the doctor." (Tr. at 1028–29.)

Wakeman asked L.M. if any part of her body hurt, and she said, "My diamond." (Tr. at 1029.) She asked L.M. when that pain started, and L.M. answered, "Daddy pushes in and out really fast like this," while moving her pelvis back and forth. (Tr. at 1029.) Wakeman again asked L.M., "When did your diamond start hurting?" and L.M. answered, "When Daddy touched my diamond." (Tr. at 1030.) The prosecutor asked Wakeman in the midst of the questioning, "And are those quotes from L.M.?" Wakeman answered, "Yes." (Tr. at 1029.)

Otway was a forensic nurse with 33 years of experience. (Tr. at 1093.) She received a S.A.N.E. certification and had conducted "over a thousand forensic interviews of children." (Tr. at 1092–94.)

Otway assured the jury of the trustworthiness of the forensic interview process, discussing the "child friendly" and "developmentally appropriate" techniques she employs, the "comfortable" atmosphere she creates to encourage the child to "give details or disclosure of events that may have happened to them," how she builds rapport with the child, and how she uses special techniques to engage with a toddler like L.M. (Tr. at 1087–92.) With that in mind, the prosecutor played the video of the forensic interview for the jury over Wes's hearsay objection. (Tr. at 1098; Ex. 2.)

The prosecutor paused the 25-minute video roughly 16 times to have Otway explain to the jury what techniques she was employing to ensure the accuracy of L.M.'s responses. (Tr. at 1100–04, 1131–36.) At the prosecutor's behest, Otway explained away L.M.'s playful and carefree demeanor in the video as normal for a toddler who had been sexually abused. (Tr. at 1102, 1136.)

In the video, Otway asked L.M. to tell her about a time she got an "owie" on her body. (Ex. 2 at 00:04:20.) L.M. pointed to her vagina and butt, said Wes gave her those owies, did a pelvic thrusting motion to demonstrate, and appeared to say it happened between two and four times. (Ex. 2 at 00:04:20-00:05:25.) She said Wes's "diamond" touched her butt. (Ex. 2 at 00:05:25-:50.) When Otway asked what Wes's diamond was, L.M. pointed to her crotch and said it had hair on it. (Ex. 2 at 00:06:50-00:07:20.) When Otway asked L.M. what her diamond was for, L.M. did a pelvic thrust and said, "For doing like this for my dad." (Ex. 2 at 00:10:48-:58.) Otway asked L.M. if Wes ever told her not to tell anybody about what he was doing, and L.M. said yes, Wes told her to not tell her mom. (Ex. 2 at 00:12:50-00:13:00.) L.M. also said Wes's diamond first touched the "outside" of her diamond, and then he "opened it." (Ex. 2 at 00:14:12-:50.)

#### The Redundant Sexual Assault Conviction

After the State filed its first amended information adding charges of incest and sexual assault, Wes filed a motion to dismiss those charges. (Doc. 119.) He cited state and federal constitutional double jeopardy protections and the statutory double jeopardy provision at

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