IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 22-0083

STATE OF MONTANA,

Plaintiff and Appellee,

v.

WES LEE WHITAKER,

Defendant and Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Montana Fourth Judicial District Court, Missoula County, The Honorable John W. Larson, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN
Montana Attorney General
BJORN BOYER
Assistant Attorney General
215 North Sanders
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59620-1401
Phone: 406-444-2026
bjorn.boyer@mt.gov

KIRSTEN PABST Missoula County Attorney BRIAN C. LOWNEY Deputy County Attorney 200 West Broadway Street Missoula, MT 59802-4292

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF AND APPELLEE

CHAD WRIGHT
Appellate Defender
MICHAEL MARCHESINI

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

Whitaker further faults the State for only citing the impracticality of transporting Grubb as the rationale for seeking his appearance via video. The State's reliance on the "impracticality" of transporting Grubb stemmed from a common misunderstanding of this Court's decision in *Duane*. *See Mercier*, ¶ 20. After the State filed its motion, this Court decided *Mercier*, which clarified *Duane* and held that "judicial economy, added expense, or inconvenience alone are not important public policies sufficient" to dispense with physical face-to-face confrontation. *See Martell*, ¶ 12. Accordingly, the prosecutor's initial reliance on

Duane to request a video appearance due to the impracticality of transporting Grubb was likely misplaced.

However, ultimately, the district court did not grant the State's motion on that rationale. In May 2020, when pandemic restrictions were being implemented, the district court readdressed the State's motion related to Grubb and stated that it was granting the motion "based on my prior statements about allowing video testimony under the COVID conditions." (Tr. at 40.) Thereafter, although the court did not always specifically reference Grubb, it continued to talk about out-of-state witnesses appearing via video to stem the spread of COVID-19. Here, the court's concern about Grubb, an out-of-state witness in a federal institution, was case-specific. The district court did not err by allowing his video testimony.

B. Even if the district court erred by allowing Grubb to testify by video, such error was harmless.

A constitutional violation of a defendant's right to face-to-face confrontation is trial error and subject to harmless error review. *Martell*, ¶ 17. The State carries the burden of proving, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the error was harmless. *Id*. In determining whether an error was harmless, this Court will "consider 'the importance of the witness' testimony in the prosecution's case, whether the testimony was cumulative, [and] the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points[.]'" *Mercier*, ¶ 31 (quoting *Delaware v. Van Arsdall*, 475 U.S. 673, 684 (1986)).

This Court does not look "to the quantitative effect of other admissible evidence, but rather to whether the fact-finder was presented with admissible evidence that proved the same facts as the tainted evidence proved." *Mercier*, ¶ 31 (quoting *State v. Van Kirk*, 2001 MT 184, ¶ 43, 306 Mont. 215, 32 P.3d 735 (emphasis removed)). When there is admissible evidence proving the same element as the tainted evidence, this Court will not reverse if "the State [demonstrates] 'that the *quality* of the tainted evidence was such that there was no reasonable possibility that it might have contributed to the defendant's conviction." *Martell*, ¶ 17 (quoting *Van Kirk*, ¶ 44 (emphasis in original)).

Grubb testified that Whitaker had confessed to him that he sexually "rubbed" his penis against L.M.'s private parts. (Tr. at 1122.) The evidence was cumulative of L.M.'s testimony and went to prove the sexual contact element of the incest and sexual assault charges. However, Jessica had also walked in on Whitaker and L.M. and observed that Whitaker had an erection and L.M. was in a state of undress. The State also admitted three of Whitaker's jail calls to Jessica, wherein Jessica confronted Whitaker about the allegations. Whitaker did not deny the allegations and, instead, told Jessica that he did not want his own daughter to know him and that he would go to court and plead guilty.

Whitaker's confession to Grubb was unrecorded. Grubb was a convicted sex offender and a jailhouse informant. These circumstances diminished the quality of

Grubb's testimony. L.M.'s testimony, Jessica's observations, and Whitaker's statements made on a recorded jail line proved the same sexual contact element and were qualitatively superior to Grubb's testimony. The State has shown that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

III. The district court did not err by admitting video of L.M.'s forensic interview.

A. L.M.'s forensic interview was admissible as a prior inconsistent statement.

"Not all out-of-court statements constitute hearsay." *State v. Mederos*, 2013 MT 318, ¶ 15, 372 Mont. 325, 312 P.3d 438. A prior statement is admissible as non-hearsay where a "declarant testifies at the trial or hearing and is subject to cross-examination concerning the statement" and the prior statement is "inconsistent with the declarant's [trial] testimony[.]" Mont. R. Evid. 801(d)(1)(A). A claimed lapse of memory at trial regarding facts attested to during the prior statement creates an inconsistency between the trial testimony and the prior statement for the purposes of Mont. R. Evid. 801(d)(1)(A). *State v. Howard*, 2011 MT 246, ¶ 31, 362 Mont. 196, 265 P.3d 606.

"A court may admit consistent statements in conjunction with inconsistent statements where the nature of a witness's testimony makes it difficult for the court to separate the consistent from the inconsistent portions of the prior statement."

Mederos, ¶ 17. The district court may properly admit consistent statements with inconsistent statements where parsing and excising the consistent statements would make "the witnesses' testimony disjointed and confusing." *Id*.

L.M.'s trial testimony was both consistent and inconsistent with her forensic interview. L.M. articulated at trial that Whitaker had used his hand and his "private parts" to touch her "private parts." (Tr. at 789.) L.M. recalled that Whitaker had called her "private parts" her "diamond." (*Id.*) However, L.M. could not recall that Whitaker had also referred to his own genitalia as his "diamond." At trial, L.M. could not recall how many times the abuse had occurred but, when prompted by the prosecutor, agreed that it had happened more than once. In contrast, during the forensic interview, L.M. said the abuse had occurred between two to four times.

During the forensic interview, L.M. said the abuse occurred in the living room of her house. However, at trial, she could not recall where in the house the abuse occurred. At trial, L.M. could not remember if anything had "come out" of Whitaker's "private part." (Tr. at 790.) In contrast, during the forensic interview, L.M. stated that "blood" had come out of his "diamond." (Ex. 2 at 21:40-22:15.) At trial, L.M. could not definitively recall if Whitaker had penetrated her. However, during her forensic exam with Wakeman she described Whitaker "push[ing] in and out really fast." (*Id.* at 1029.) Similarly, during her forensic interview, L.M.

repeatedly thrust her hips to simulate how Whitaker had given her "diamond" "owies." (Ex. 2 at 4:19-4:45.)

L.M.'s trial testimony could "be described as vague at times and somewhat unclear." *Mederos*, ¶ 17. L.M. was only three years old at the time of the abuse and was six years old at the time of trial. L.M.'s trial testimony was disjointed and she could only remember the basic details of the abuse. In contrast, during the forensic interview, she was more descriptive, saying, for example, that Whitaker's "diamond" was "hairy" and that he had given her "owies." (Ex. 2 at 4:19-5:51.)

In addition to lacking memory as to the specifics of the abuse, L.M. demonstrated an overall lack of memory. She could not recall participating in the forensic exam or the forensic interview. She did not recognize Whitaker as the person in the courtroom cross-examining her.

Although L.M.'s forensic interview was partially consistent with her trial testimony, it would not have been reasonable to parse out the consistent statements. Parsing out the statements would have required the jury to hear half of an obviously edited video, which would have confused the jury. Worse, in his opening statement, Whitaker alleged that the prosecutor was going to attempt to unethically withhold evidence. Not only would playing half of an edited video have confused the jury, it also would have supported Whitaker's claim that the

prosecutor was going to withhold evidence. Pursuant to *Mederos*, the district court did not abuse its discretion by admitting the forensic interview.

B. Whitaker opened the door to the State admitting the forensic interview to rebut his opening argument that L.M.'s disclosure was the result of improper coaching.

When one party "broaches a certain topic that would otherwise be off limits, 'the opposing party has the right to offer evidence in rebuttal[.]" *State v. Guill*, 2010 MT 69, ¶ 39, 355 Mont. 490, 228 P.3d 1152 (quoting *State v. Veis*, 1998 MT 162, ¶ 18, 289 Mont. 450, 962 P.2d 1153). "A party may rebut an allegation of bias by offering testimony to explain the initial suggestion or correct a false impression given by the other party." *Id.* A defendant may "open the door" to such rebuttal evidence by creating a "false impression" during his opening argument, even if the evidence is otherwise inadmissible. *State v. McGhee*, 2021 MT 193, ¶ 21, 405 Mont. 121, 492 P.3d 518. One party is not allowed to "parry with sharpened blade [] and expect only a sheathed blade in return." *State v. Board*, 135 Mont. 139, 145, 337 P.2d 924, 928 (1959).

The doctrine of completeness provides that when part of a "recorded statement or series thereof is introduced by a party," the "adverse party may inquire into or introduce any other part of such item of evidence or series thereof." Mont. R. Evid. 106. "The purpose of this rule is to avoid a misleading and unfair impression which can result when matters are presented out of context." *State v*.

Sheriff, 190 Mont. 131, 136, 619 P.2d 181, 184 (1980). The doctrine applies when admitting the balance of the recorded statement will "throw light upon the parts already admitted or bear on the same subject." *State v. Whitlow*, 285 Mont. 430, 444, 949 P.2d 239, 248 (1997).

During his opening argument, Whitaker alleged that the prosecutor would "desperately" and "unethical[ly]" attempt to withhold evidence from the jury. (Tr. at 768.) Although Whitaker did not specifically identify the evidence the prosecutor would attempt to withhold, he then immediately moved on to talk about the various things that could have influenced L.M.'s testimony, identifying L.M.'s forensic interview as chief among those malign influences. Whitaker foreshadowed Dr. Zook's testimony by promising to produce "critical testimony" that would "break down" the interview. (*Id.* at 769.) Whitaker directly alleged that L.M.'s disclosures were the product of the "influencing, persuading, coaching, reenforcing, and advocacy" that resulted from the forensic exam and forensic interview. (*Id.*) Whitaker asked the jury to "not hold [him] accountable for the mistakes that were made" during the exam and interview. (*Id.*)

During his opening argument, Whitaker introduced the theory that L.M.'s testimony would be tainted because of a "coached" forensic interview. In front of the jury, Whitaker objected to L.M. testifying at all, reiterating the same theory. Furthermore, as promised in his opening, Whitaker called Dr. Zook to "break

down" the forensic interview. Dr. Zook provided a line-by-line critique of Otway's questions and opined that L.M.'s answers were the product of coaching via leading questions and improper reinforcement of L.M.'s answers. Whitaker's claim of a coached forensic interview performed by a biased advocate was a major theme of his case.

Admitting the forensic interview was proper to rebut Whitaker's characterization of the interview during his opening statement. Although the prosecutor introduced the forensic interview prior to Dr. Zook's testimony, Whitaker had already made his intent clear long before the introduction of the video. He desired to attack the validity of the forensic interview and, at the same time, prevent the State from rebutting his theory by keeping the jury from viewing the video itself.

By arguing in his opening statement that L.M. was coached, and repeating his allegation prior to L.M.'s testimony, Whitaker opened the door to admitting the entire recorded statement so the jury could determine whether, in fact, L.M. was coached. Whitaker cannot claim coaching occurred and then prevent the jury from seeing the very evidence that would prove or disprove his theory. Therefore, even if the district court erred in admitting the forensic interview as prior inconsistent statements, this Court should still affirm the district court's ruling, even if it arrived at the right result for the wrong reason. *See Veis*, ¶ 16.

C. Even if the district court erred in admitting the forensic interview, such error was harmless.

The erroneous admission of a forensic interview is trial error and subject to harmless error analysis. Smith, ¶ 34. This Court will not reverse "unless the record shows that the error was prejudicial." Id. (quoting Mont. Code Ann. § 46-20-701(1)). The error is prejudicial if there is a reasonable possibility that the inadmissible evidence contributed to the conviction. Id. "Inadmissible evidence is not prejudicial so long as the jury was presented with admissible evidence proving the same facts as the tainted evidence." Id.

The introduction of L.M.'s forensic interview was harmless because Jessica testified to the same or similar statements L.M. made to her near the time of the assault. Whitaker did not object to Jessica's testimony about L.M.'s statements. Jessica testified about L.M.'s initial disclosure that "[Whitaker] had touched her diamond" and then identified her vagina as her "diamond." (Tr. at 845.) Jessica's testimony was more detailed than the forensic interview about what L.M. had said. Without objection, Jessica testified that L.M. had disclosed that Whitaker "stuck his thingy in her and in her butt[,]" that it happened multiple times, and that Whitaker self-lubricated by applying spit to his penis before penetrating her. (*Id.* at 858.)

Furthermore, admitting L.M.'s consistent statements was harmless because L.M. was present at the trial and subject to cross-examination. Therefore, "the

danger[] that the hearsay rule seeks to avoid [was] not present" in this case." *Veis*, ¶ 26. On appeal, Whitaker argues that this Court should overrule *Veis* and its progeny that have found prior consistent statements to be harmless error. He argues that prior consistent statements, by definition, will always be cumulative to the declarant's trial testimony and, therefore, the harmless error exception swallows the hearsay prohibition. (Br. at 47.)

This Court should decline Whitaker's invitation. While repetition of a declarant's testimony using out-of-court statements might lead to bolstering in some cases, that is not what occurred here. First, L.M.'s trial testimony was also inconsistent with her forensic interview. Therefore, playing the forensic interview provided fodder for cross-examination on L.M.'s faulty memory. Given the facts of this case, and because the statements also came in through Jessica, Whitaker has not met his heavy burden of showing that this Court should overrule *Veis*. Accordingly, if admitting the forensic interview was error, such error was harmless.

IV. The cumulative error doctrine does not apply.

This Court will only apply the cumulative error doctrine to reverse "a conviction where numerous errors, when taken together, have prejudiced the defendant's right to a fair trial." *State v. Darrell Smith*, 2020 MT 304, ¶ 16,

402 Mont. 206, 476 P.3d 1178 (citation omitted). To prevail on a claim of cumulative error, "[t]he defendant must establish prejudice; a mere allegation of error without proof of prejudice is inadequate to satisfy the doctrine." *Id*.

"[T]he cumulative effect of errors will rarely merit reversal" because a defendant is only "entitled to a fair trial, not to a trial free from errors." *Darrell Smith*, ¶¶ 16-17. The defendant may establish prejudice by showing that two or more individually harmless errors rose to the level of depriving him of a fair trial. *Darrell Smith*, ¶ 16. To prevail, the defendant must first carry his burden of establishing that the district court erred. *State v. Hanson*, 283 Mont. 316, 326, 940 P.2d 1166, 1172 (1997).

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